IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01173

BEAUMONT HOMES, LLC

APPELLANT

V.

COLONIAL/JORDAN PROPERTIES, LLC, SMCDC, INC., MARK S. JORDAN, AND DEE DENTON

APPELLEES

Consolidated with 2010-CA-00810

BEAUMONT HOMES, LLC

APPELLANT

V.

COLONIAL/JORDAN PROPERTIES, LLC, SMCDC, INC., MARK S. JORDAN, AND DEE DENTON

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ken R. Adcock, MSB# ADCOCK & MORRISON, PLLC 199 Charmant Drive, Suite 1 Post Office Box 3308 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 (601)898-9887 (fax)898-9860

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT BEAUMONT HOMES, LLC

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Appellant alleges that the Appellees knowingly or negligently failed to disclose to the Appellant the long history of rampant flooding on the property to be purchased and the existence of a moratorium against building on the two lots that Appellant purchased. Appellant brought suit alleging the following causes of action: rescission of the sales contract and remedy of the Appellee's breach of contract, negligence, misrepresentation/negligent misrepresentation, fraudulent concealment and breach of fiduciary duties. Appellant seeks damages, including, but not limited to, the purchase price of the property, out of pocket expenses for the developing of the lot before the moratorium was discovered, interest on the Appellant's loan, lost profits, attorney's fees, and any other damages the Court may find necessary.

The first issue addressed in this appeal is whether there is a genuine issue of material fact as to the Appellee's duty to disclose the following material issues which adversely affected the two lots at Deerfield III, purchased by the Appellant prior to the sale: (1) That the two lots were located in a subdivision developed by Appellees which had severe drainage problems and flooded the subject lots during periods of heavy rainfall; and (2) That the Madison County Board of Supervisors had placed a moratorium on building on those two lots. It is undisputed that Appellees were aware that the Appellant was a homebuilder and intended to build homes for sale on these two lots. Though Appellee, Jordan, admitted knowing of the drainage problem with the lots and his development, Appellee contended that the drainage system was previously dedicated to Madison County and as such, was not his problem and that Appellees had no duty to disclose this fact to the Appellant. Although it is undisputed that the Madison County Board of Supervisors issued the moratorium two months before the sale on the two lots for the sole purpose of using the moratorium as leverage to

attempt to get Appellee, Jordan, to pay half the cost of repairing the defective drainage system that he and his companies previously installed, Appellee, Jordan, claimed that he had no knowledge of the moratorium and therefore had no duty to disclose to the Appellant. It is Appellant's position that the Defendant, Jordan, knew about the moratorium and failed to disclose it to the Appellant. It is the Appellant's position that had he known about either adverse condition before the sale, he would not have purchased the two lots.

The second issue before the Court is whether the Chancellor erred in granting the Appellee's post-judgment motion for attorney's fees based upon a clause in the subject sales contract. The sales contract stated under the terms for breach of contract, in pertinent part, as follows:

"If it becomes necessary to insure the performance of the conditions of this Contract for either party to initiate litigation, then the party adjudged at fault agrees to pay reasonable attorney's fees, court costs, and other expenses incident to such litigation."

It is undisputed that Appellees did not seek attorney's fees or allege fault or a breach of contract on the part of the Appellant in their answers and that Appellees never filed a counter-claim and raised the issue for the first time after the Order Granting Summary Judgment was entered. It is undisputed that Appellant paid for the two lots and performed his part of the sales contract in all respects, so that Appellant was not at fault and could not have breached the sales contract. It is the position of the Appellant that the Court erred in considering this motion filed post-judgment alleging fault and breach of contract against the Appellant for the first time. It is also the position of Appellant that assuming, arguendo, Appellee could raise the motion for attorney's fees post-judgment, which is denied, the Judge's finding that a provision for attorney's fees within a breach of contract paragraph when the party bringing the action was undisputedly not at fault was applicable and that an adverse

ruling on a motion of summary judgment is equivalent to a determination of fault of the Appellant on which she based her decision is clearly erroneous.

Appellant requests a reversal of the Order Granting Summary Judgment and remand to the lower court for trial on the merits. Further, Appellant requests a reversal and rendering of the Order granting attorney's fees.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Beaumont Homes, entered into a contract to purchase two lots, #127 and #130, in the Deerfield III subdivision from the Appellee, Colonial/Jordan Properties, LLC, on September 16, 2005 for the sole purpose of building homes on these pieces of property. (R-1674 through 1675). Appellee, Mark Jordan, is the President and majority shareholder of Colonial/Jordan Properties, LLC. (R-1671). Appellee, SMCDC, Inc., is solely owned by Jordan and is its President and sole stockholder. *Id.* SMCDC, Inc. is also the managing member of Colonial/Jordan Properties, LLC. *Id.* And Appellee, Dee Denton, was acting as the agent for the other Appellees at the time the sales contract was entered into and at the closing. *Id.* The Appellant, through its agent, Michael Oakes, closed on these two properties with the Appellee on November 15, 2005. (R-245, R-1676). Prior to the closing on the lots, it is undisputed that the Appellee the Appellee did not inform the Appellant that the two lots had a long history of severe drainage problems or that the Madison County Board of Supervisors had issued a moratorium prohibiting any building on the two lots purchased. *Id.*

The two lots, #127 and #130, as well as the surrounding lots, had at least a five year history of serious drainage issues going back to the year 2000. (R-284). This flooding has led to a series

of complaints from the residents of Deerfield to the Madison County Board of Supervisors, specifically, the homeowners on Audubon Drive, the street where these two lots are located, that the drainage system originally installed by the Jordan Appellees in 1995 was totally inadequate and needed immediate repair. (R-1672). In response to these complaints, the Madison County Board of Supervisors hired an engineering firm, Aqua Engineering, to do a comprehensive study of the drainage problems on Audubon Drive on August 11, 2003. (R-284, R-1672). Bill Colson, the engineer for Aqua Engineering, testified by deposition that his study concluded that the drainage system designed and installed by the Appellees was wholly inadequate and was causing the flooding and drainage problems on Audubon Drive and the two lots later purchased by the Appellant. Id. In response to this study, the Madison County Board of Supervisors obtained an estimate of repair cost based on Colson's recommendations and approached the original developer, Appellee, Mark Jordan, in an effort to split the cost of repairs up to \$25,000.00 numerous times between 2003 and 2005.1 (R-1674, R-1722 through R-1723). After these unsuccessful attempts, the Board of Supervisors sent its county engineer, Rudy Warnock, on July 18, 2005, to the Deerfield III properties in order to inspect the drainage system and formulate a plan of repairs. (R-1673). Any repairs suggested by Warnock at this time were not followed through upon as the Board of Supervisors was still seeking financial assistance from the Appellee, Jordan. Id.

On August 25, 2005, the Madison County Board of Supervisors, at the suggestion of Doug Jones, placed a moratorium on any new building permits on the properties on Audubon Drive, including lots #127 and #130. (R-285, R-1673, R-1723). Jones also testified that the purpose of the

¹ Madison County had approved the plat and drainage system pursuant to Colonial's petition in 1995 and subsequently assumed control of the system in regards to the maintenance of it. (R-284)

moratorium to use it as leverage to get Appellee, Jordan, to agree to split the cost of the repairs needed to repair the drainage system with the county. (R-1723). Madison County's attorney, Ed Brunini, agreed that it would be a reasonable assumption that the purpose of the moratorium was to persuade Appellee, Jordan, to contribute to the repair of the drainage system by prohibiting any building on the lots that he owned. (R-1742). County Administrator, Donnie Caughman, testified that probably the primary reason the moratorium was issued was to get Jordan to come to the table and contribute to the repair. (R-1815). This moratorium was recorded in the Board of Supervisors' minutes in the County Administrator's office on August 22, 2005. (R-285, R-1673). As a long time developer and home builder in Madison County, Appellee, Mark Jordan, regularly kept up with the actions of the Madison County Board of Supervisors and was personally acquainted with all of them. (R-1721, R-1744). Following the moratorium, issued on August 25, 2005, the Appellant, with zero notice of the drainage problems or that a moratorium was placed on the two lots prohibiting any building, entered into its contract on September 16, 2005 with the Appellee, and purchased lots #127 and #130 on November 15, 2005. (R-1674 through 1675).

After the moratorium was in place, Brunini arranged a meeting on November 1, 2005 (before the closing on November 15, 2005) between Supervisor Jones, County Administrator Caughman, and Appellee, Jordan, to try to come to a financial agreement for the repair of the drainage system that Jordan installed on the lots in question. (R-1675 through 1676). According to Brunini and Caughman, it was agreed that Jordan would share the costs of repairs on a 50-50 basis and to contribute up to \$25,000.00 to repair the drainage system. (R-1675 through R-1676). The County Administrator, Caughman, testified that since the moratorium was passed to put pressure on Jordan to split the cost of the repairs, the moratorium would have <u>had</u> to be discussed in the November 1,

2005 meeting with Jordan, thus providing Jordan with notice of the moratorium. (R-1812, R-1817). Supervisor Jones and County Attorney, Brunini, also testified that the issue of the moratorium would have been brought up at this meeting with Mark Jordan, Appellee. (R-1724, R-1740, R-1742, R-1817). Furthermore, Brunini testified that it was "probable or likely that the moratorium was as known fact" to Jordan at the time of the meeting. (R-1740 through R-1742). Because Appellee, Jordan, regularly kept up with the actions of the Madison County Board, Caughman testified that Jordan knew about the moratorium prior to the November 1, 2005 meeting so that he would have known not to build on the vacant lots or sell them to someone without telling them about the moratorium. (R-1675, R-1817). As such, Appellee, Jordan, knew about the moratorium a minimum of two weeks before the closing and sale on November 15, 2005 of the two lots to the Appellant and did not disclose it. R-1816).

Jordan has denied that the moratorium was discussed at the November 1, 2005 meeting and that he never agreed to partner with the County to financially contribute to the repairs but led the Madison County Board of Supervisors and board attorney to think that he would when in actuality, he was just "going on to get along." (R-1676, R-1785). When Brunini later forwarded a contract for Jordan to sign in January, 2006, he refused to sign it or make any financial contribution for the repairs. (R-1744). Jordan knew that in Mississippi the moratorium would have been a cloud on the title of the two lots he was selling to the homebuilder, Appellant, Beaumont, and admitted that had he known about it, he had a duty to disclose it. (R-1676, R-1772, R-1774). Jordan testified that he had no responsibility to disclose the drainage problem on the lots, contending that it was solely Madison County's duty to disclose the drainage problems to the Appellant since Madison County owned the drainage system and easements. (R-1676, R-1774).

At a November 7, 2005 meeting, the Madison County Board of Supervisors and Doug Jones reported in the Board minutes that Jordan had agreed to the 50-50 contribution up to \$25,000.00 to repair the Deerfield III drainage problem. (R-1677).

It was not until December, 2005 that Jordan and his agent, Dee Denton, claimed they received notice of the moratorium when the mother of Oakes (Norma Thiel) called him. (R-1677, R-1780). After receipt of notice, neither Jordan, individually, his corporations, Colonial, LLC or SMCDC, Inc., or his agent, Denton, made any attempt to contact or help the Appellant, Beaumont, in having the moratorium withdrawn or repair or contribute to the repair of the drainage problems because he felt he had <u>no responsibility</u>. (R-1677, R-1782, R-1834 through R-1836). Denton was under the belief at the time that Jordan planned on doing what he could to help Beaumont get the moratorium withdrawn but testified he made no attempt to refund the money or swap the lots that Beaumont purchased for numerous other unencumbered lots in numerous developments in Madison County that Jordan owned. (R-1835).

On January 13, 2006, the board attorney, Ed Brunini, wrote a letter to Jordan requesting an acknowledgment of the agreement to contribute financially with the County on a 50-50 basis up to the agreed to limit of \$25,000.00 mentioned above at the November 7, 2005 meeting. (R-1677, R-1744 through R-1745). It was at this point that Jordan let the Board of Supervisors know that he was reneging on his agreement with them and backed out of the deal. (R-1677, R-1727).

Madison County chose <u>not</u> to sue the Appellees to enforce the agreement and authorized County Engineer, Rudy Warnock, on October 23, 2006 to accept bids on behalf of the county for contract to correct the drainage by increasing the flow of water into the lake on Hole #16 at Deerfield Country Club by adding a culvert across the street from Lot #127 and increasing the capacity of the

outflow from the lake. (R-1677, R-1706, R-1725, R-1745). The reason for this was that, according to Jones, the pipes originally installed by Jordan were not large enough and installed at 45° angles thus slowing the water flow. (R-1677). These plans were still contingent upon the Board entering into a memorandum of understanding with Jordan to contribute toward the repairs, despite Jordan's prior reneging on the deal. (R-1706). It was not until November 27, 2006 that this contingency upon Jordan's financial contributions as a condition to begin repairs was lifted. (R-1678). The repairs were completed approximately four months later on March 19, 2007. *Id.* At this time, the moratorium on building permits on all properties affected (including Lot #127 that Beaumont had purchased a year and a half prior) was lifted. *Id.* However, the real estate market had collapsed by this point and the Appellant was unable to sell Lot #127 nor was he financially capable of building a home on it. *Id.* Lot #127 was later foreclosed on by the lender, BankFirst, on February 19, 2008, who then bought it at the foreclosure sale. The moratorium on Lot #130 was lifted in early 2006 because it sat at a higher elevation and had much less exposure to flooding, and as such, is not a part of this litigation.

Appellant, Beaumont Homes, filed suit against the Appellees prior to the lifting of the moratorium on October 2, 2006 for rescission of contract, breach of contract, negligence, misrepresentation/negligent misrepresentation, fraudulent concealment, and breach of fiduciary duties. (R-1). The Chancellor, having overlooked all genuine issues of material fact concerning the duties to disclose referenced above, erroneously granted summary judgment to the Appellees on June 23, 2009. (R-2060). Appellant then filed its Notice of Appeal on the Order of Summary Judgment on July 16, 2009.

On June 29, 2009, the Appellees first filed their Motion for Attorney's Fees after the Chancery Court issued its final Order on June 23, 2009.² (SR-1). This was the first time that the Appellee had raised the issue of attorney's fees, and was in fact, a new issue brought by the Appellee's after the fact. (SR-32). Over the Appellant's well-researched motion showing that the court had already divested its jurisdiction, the Chancellor found at a January 4, 2010 hearing that Rule 4(d) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure were applicable. (SR-1, SR-67). Furthermore, the Chancellor found that the initiation of a Motion for Summary Judgment was tantamount to an action to ensure performance of a contract, and that losing said Motion was tantamount to a judgment of fault against the Appellant, Beaumont, even when the Chancellor's Order found no fault on behalf of the Appellant. (SR-34). The Chancellor refused to state whether the covered fees were for the entire case or just the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Colonial/Jordan, LLC. Id. The Chancellor erroneously ordered on May 6, 2010 that the Appellee, Colonial/Jordan, be awarded attorney's fees in the amount of \$5,000.00 to be assessed against the Appellant, Beaumont Homes. The Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal on these issues on May 17, 2010. (SR-101).

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It has been well established in Mississippi since the 1800s that a property seller has a duty to disclose material facts to a property buyer which adversely affects the property. In <u>Alexander v. Beresford</u>, 27 Miss. 747 (Miss. 1854), the Court held that when a property seller fails to disclose or

² Because a second notice of appeal was consolidated in with the first, a supplemental volume consisting of the second proceedings is included within the record. This supplemental volume will be hereafter cited as (SR-).

conceals the known material fact of flooding, that the sale can constitute a fraud so as to justify rescission of the contract and/or an award of damages even if the complainant does not make any inquiries on the subject. The Court's position on this has not changed to this day as this Court has most recently that a real estate agent and/or seller should disclose all material adverse conditions affecting the property to a potential purchase prior to closing. Lane v. Oustalet, 873 So.2d 92 (Miss. 2004).

It is also well established that a filing of a Notice of Appeal divests the trial court of any jurisdiction to rule on an award of costs under Rule 56(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Wright v. White, 693 So.2d 898 (Miss. 1997); Tandy Electronics, Inc v. Felcher, 554 So.2d 308 (Miss. 1989); and Martin v. State of Mississippi, 732 So.2d 847 (Miss. 1998). These cases all state the filing of a Notice of Appeal divests the trial court of jurisdiction unless a specific statute or Rule of Procedure specifically allows the trial court to do so. One of these is Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure which allows for the amendment or alteration of a judgment when a party files under this Rule when there has been a change in controlling law, newfound evidence, or to prevent manifest justice. Journeay v. Berry, 953 So.2d 1145 (Miss. App. 2007).

It is the position of the Appellant, in the present case, that the Appellees violated its common law duties to disclose material facts by a willful and negligent misrepresentation and fraudulent concealment by failing to disclose material facts of flooding and the existence of a moratorium on the subject lots purchased by the Appellant from the Appellees. The Appellees knew that the properties in question were subject to rampant flooding due to negligent drainage design on the part of the Appellee and knew, or should have known, that a moratorium had been placed on the two properties purchased. The Chancellor disregarded these genuine issues of material fact in her ruling

of summary judgment for the Appellees without issuing any opinion as to what her findings of fact and conclusions of law were, justifying the Judgment rendered.

Furthermore, counsel for the Appellees raised, for the first time, the issue of attorney's fees in a post-trial motion. Appellees did not raise the issue of attorney's fees in its Answers to the Complaint, nor did it file a counter-claim for breach of contract to bring the provision of the contract into effect. Even then, Appellees had nearly three years to properly raise the issue before the trial court's ruling but instead waited until they received a decision in their favor to raise the issue and proceeded to argue that it fit under Rule 59(e) when they could have requested attorney's fees as the prevailing party under Rule 56(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure in one of their three duplicate Motions for Summary Judgment filed before the court. The Chancellor allowed this improper motion to be heard and awarded "contractual" attorney's fees to the Appellant under the breach of contract provision of the sales contract despite undisputed full performance by the Appellant. The Chancellor committed clear error in both the allowance of the motion and then granting of fees on the basis that a granting of summary judgment is tantamount to a finding of fault on a non-breaching party.

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