#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2009-CA-01173

## Consolidated with 2010-CA-00810

**BEAUMONT HOMES, LLC** 

**APPELLANT** 

vs.

COLONIAL/JORDAN PROPERTIES, LLC, SMCDC, INC., MARK S. JORDAN, AND DEE C. DENTON

**APPELLEES** 

## APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

#### OF COUNSEL:

Samuel L. Anderson (MSB No Clyde X. Copeland, III (MSB No Matthew W. Vanderloo (MSB No HARRIS JERNIGAN & GENO, PLLC 587 Highland Colony Parkway (39157) Post Office Box 3380 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158

Phone: (601) 427-0048 Fax: (601) 427-0050

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

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

Understanding that proof of actual notice is absent from this case, Beaumont Homes resorts to a theory of constructive notice as its substitute. See Higginbothom v. Hill Brothers Construction Co., 962 So. 2d 46 (Miss. 2006). Beaumont Homes failed to raise this argument in the court below in response to summary judgment. (C.P. 1671-89) Case law is established that a party may not pursue arguments in the Mississippi Supreme Court for the first time on appeal. See Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Maryland v. Ralph McKnight & Son Const., Inc., 28 So. 3d 1382, (Miss 2010)(Supreme Court does not consider matters not decided by trial court); Corporate Management, Inc. v. Greene County, 23 So. 3d 454 (Miss. 2009)(issue must first be presented to trial court before being raised to appellate court); Mathis v. ERA Franchise Systems, Inc., 25 So. 3d 298 (Miss. 2009)(absent extraordinary circumstances, Supreme Court will not consider issues raised for first time on appeal); Pittman v. Dykes Timber Co., Inc., 18 So. 3d 923 (Miss. App. 2009)(appellate courts will not put trial courts in error for issues not first presented to trial court for resolution); Estate of Johnson v. Adkins 513 So. 2d 922 (Miss. 1987)(party must pursue appeal on same legal theory advanced in trial court); Estate of Myers v. Myers, 498 So. 2d 376, 378 (Miss. 1986)("One of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Assuming for purposes of argument only that there was some duty under the Contract to make every potential disclosure about the condition of land before its sale, there could be no breach of that duty as a matter of law to support a claim for negligence if the seller was not aware of the condition. Accordingly, this evidence is also sufficient to defeat claims of negligence and negligent misrepresentation if there were any such cause of action outside the terms of the Contract.

the most fundamental and long established rules of law in Mississippi is that the Mississippi Supreme Court will not review matters on appeal that were not raised at the trial court level").

Despite the procedural inadequacy, a theory of constructive notice should fundamentally fail where there was no proof that the minutes were ever made public. Furthermore, the *Higginbothom* Court ultimately refused to apply the theory of constructive notice to a construction contractor in a cause of action against it for negligence because the Court had previously held that the contractor was not liable for the existence of the dangerous condition in the first place. *Higginbothom*, 962 So. 2d at 59. Similarly here, there is no liability for non-disclosure since Contract expressly excluded reliance on representations or conditions of the property outside the terms of the Contract. Colonial/Jordan was not required to make any such disclosures under the Contract, it was not the entity that established the moratorium, and the problematic property and drainage system was not owned by it. Regardless, it would be improper to utilize a theory of constructive notice for the purpose of supplying the "intent to deceive" that is necessary to establish an intentional tort such as fraud. The issue of constructive notice in *Higginbothom* was only discussed in the context of a negligence cause of action. As set forth above, the allegations of negligence are not supportable where the parties adhered to their respective legal duties set forth in their mutual Contract.

Assuming that the theory of constructive notice could be applied solely through the appearance of the moratorium on the Board minutes without notice to the public to establish intentional fraud, and it cannot under Mississippi law, then such notice would equally apply to Beaumont Homes who contracted to purchase the property in question and has its own burden of diligence before making its purchase. To the extent that Beaumont Homes maintains that the minutes themselves serve as constructive notice to Mr. Jordan, then Beaumont Homes also had constructive notice of the moratorium prior to its purchase of the Property, and Beaumont Homes went forward with the transaction subject to notice and waiver. Accordingly, the allegations of

constructive notice are insufficient to change the outcome of this case as it concerns the claims for fraud.

For extra-contractual claims such as fraud, there must be clear and convincing proof, not assumption and speculation. Beaumont Homes never offered anything to the chancery court in which it could conclude there was legally sufficient proof upon which a trier of fact could ever make a clear and convincing finding of fraud. In response to a summary judgment motion, the opposing party has the burden to come forth with affidavits and concrete evidentiary material, like that offered by Appellees in this case, to show there is legally sufficient proof of their claims to proceed. Shaw v. Burchfield, 481 So. 2d 247, 252 (Miss. 1985)(non-movant, in order to avoid summary judgment, must produce "probative evidence legally sufficient" to show genuine issue of material fact). Beaumont Homes simply did not do anything but speculate during the entire discovery process as to anyone's knowledge of the moratorium. Knowledge was specifically denied, and no one involved including those who issued the moratorium could ever say Mr. Jordan was actually informed. Speculation is legally insufficient to defeat summary judgment, especially in the face of an elevated burden of proof in the case of proving fraud. See Herrington v. Leaf River Forest Products, 733 So. 2d 774, 777 (Miss. 1999)(circumstantial evidence may be sufficient only if it places particular issue beyond conjecture). Considering that this same chancellor would be the ultimate trier of fact, the chancellor was doubly correct in her determination that there was not enough evidence to move the allegations beyond speculation so as to ever support a finding of fraud. Beaumont Homes offered no basis in the record to conclude that the decision by this chancellor would be any different should the case be remanded to her again to sit as the trier of fact hearing the same evidence once again. Because Beaumont Homes failed to meet its burden to provide legally sufficient proof of a representation made by anyone prior to the sale that was known to be false with an intent to deceive, the extra-contractual claims of fraud failed as a matter of law and summary judgment should be affirmed.

## V. There was no breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the absence of any knowledge of the moratorium.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that every contract contains an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the parties' performance and enforcement. *Morris v. Macione*, 546 So.2d 969, 971 (Miss.1989). Bad faith requires a showing of conscious wrongdoing and requires more than bad judgment or negligence. *Univ. of Southern Mississippi v. Williams*, 891 So. 2d 160, 170-71 (Miss. 2004).

"Good faith is the faithfulness of an agreed purpose between two parties, a purpose which is consistent with justified expectations of the other party. The breach of good faith is bad faith characterized by some conduct which violates standards of decency, fairness, or reasonableness." *Cenac v. Murry*, 609 So.2d 1257, 1272 (Miss.1992). Bad faith, in turn, requires a showing of more than bad judgment or negligence; rather, "bad faith" implies some conscious wrongdoing "because of dishonest purpose or moral obliquity. *Bailey v. Bailey*, 724 So.2d 335, 338 (Miss.1998).

Univ. of Southern Mississippi, 891 So. 2d at 170-71.

Colonial/Jordan was the only party to the Contract in question, and thus, the only party with such a duty. Despite the Contract language precluding reliance on matters outside the contract, Beaumont Homes failed to provide evidence that Colonial/Jordan, or anyone on its behalf, committed conscious wrongdoing or bad faith, for the same reasons discussed in the preceding sections of this Brief. The allegation that Colonial/Jordan had knowledge of the moratorium is mere speculation, and Beaumont Homes never bothered to speak to anyone, including the seller, about the condition of the property before its agreement to purchase the property. Although the circumstances of this case may have been unfortunate for Beaumont Homes, it does not necessarily mean that someone other than Beaumont Homes should be blamed. Beaumont Homes was a sophisticated developer in the business of purchasing, building and flipping real estate until the real estate crash. Conducting its own due diligence, such as checking on a building permit prior to purchase, would

have prevented this entire situation. As to imposition of the moratorium itself, that was beyond the control of any party to this lawsuit. Based on the record in the court below, the claims for breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing must fail as a matter of law.

#### VI. No fiduciary relationship existed in this arms-length transaction.

The existence of a fiduciary duty must arise before a breach of that duty may result. *Merchants & Planters Bank of Raymond v. Williamson*, 691 So.2d 398 (Miss. 1997). Where a complaint alleges a breach of fiduciary duty, it is necessary to state with particularity the facts which purportedly created the duty that was breached, so that the court could determine as a matter of law whether there was such a duty. *Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward*, 687 So.2d 1205, 1216 (Miss. 1996). A fiduciary relationship may exist only under the following circumstances:

(1) the activities of the parties went beyond operating on their own behalf, and the activities were for the benefit of both; (2) where the parties had a common interest and profit from the activities of the other; (3) where the parties repose trust in one another; and (4) where one party has dominion or control over the other.

University Nursing Associates, PLLC v. Phillips, 842 So.2d 1270 (Miss. 2003). There were no such allegations or evidence in the record here so as to give rise to a fiduciary duty under Mississippi law. In response to summary judgment, Beaumont Homes alleged only that it was relying on Colonial/Jordan and its agents for "guidance." (C.P. 1687) As established by the Contract, Ms. Denton was the agent of the seller Colonial/Jordan. There are no facts establishing any common interest, joint venture, or control by Mr. Jordan over the purchase decision. This case involved nothing more than an arms-length transaction between two sophisticated business entities. There is no fiduciary relationship in an arms-length transaction. See Burley v. Homeowners Warranty Co., et al, 773 F. Supp. 844, 859 (S.D. Miss. 1990) (citing Davidson v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 641 F. Supp. 503, 514 n.8 (N.D. Miss. 1986). Accordingly, the claim for breach of fiduciary duty is without merit and was appropriately dismissed on summary judgment.

#### VII. Plaintiff failed to establish proof of damages as a matter of law.

According to its Complaint, Beaumont Homes sought rescission of the Contract, return of the purchase price, consequential damages and attorney's fees. However, rescission was not possible because Beaumont Homes no longer owned the Property - it was foreclosed and sold at auction. Although the moratorium was lifted in early 2007, Beaumont Homes never built anything and ultimately allowed the property to foreclose in 2008. With rescission unavailable, the only remaining measure of damages available in this civil action is loss of the benefit of the bargain. *Theobald v. Nosser*, 752 So. 2d 1036, 1042 (Miss. 1999) (injured party's damages are measured by his expectation interest and are intended to give him the benefit of the bargain by awarding him a sum of money that will, to the extent possible, put him in as good a position as he would have been in absent the injury).

In response to the summary judgment motions, Beaumont Homes offered no competent witness or proof of any differential values to establish loss of the benefit of the bargain. With the moratorium having been temporary and the property sold with no home ever constructed, Mr. Oakes' opinion alone as to what he might have made on resale of a constructed home is mere speculation and would be reversible as a matter of law. *See Frierson v. Delta Outdoor, Inc.*, 794 So. 2d 220, 226 (Miss. 2001)(trial court award of damages reversed as too speculative where only evidence of measure of damages was the non-breaching company's speculative testimony). Without proof of damages, no cause of action asserted herein may prevail.

# VIII. The Chancellor maintained the jurisdiction and discretion to enter its award of a portion of Colonial/Jordan's attorneys' fees under the terms of the Contract.

On June 22, 2009, the court entered its Order Granting Summary Judgment to Defendants. (C.P. 2060) On June 29, 2009, Colonial/Jordan filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees based on the following language in the Contract:

(c) If it becomes necessary to insure the performance of this Contract for either party to initiate litigation, then the party adjudged at fault agrees to pay reasonable attorney's fees, court costs, and other expenses incident to such litigation.

(C.P. 2065-2090) (C.P. Supp. Vol. 1 at 6) Colonial/Jordan's attorneys' fees and expenses totaled \$43,854.20. (C.P. Supp. Vol. 1 at 44-46)

On July 16, 2009, Beaumont Homes filed a Notice of Appeal. (C.P. 2091) On January 4, 2010, a hearing was held wherein the court ruled that the entire lawsuit centered around performance of the Contract, and therefore, Colonial/Jordan as the prevailing party was entitled to its attorneys' fees. (C.P. Supp. Vol. 1 at 66-70) On March 1, 2010, the court entered its Order Granting Defendant Colonial/Jordan Properties, LLC's Motion for Attorney's Fees. (C.P. Supp. Vol. 1 at 50) Colonial/Jordan was instructed to submit an additional itemized bill to which Beaumont Homes was allowed the opportunity to object. *Id.* The Affidavit of Matthew Vanderloo had been previously submitted as an exhibit to the original motion, establishing fees and expenses totaling \$43,854.20. (C.P. Supp. Vol. 1 at 44-46) On May 6, 2010, the court allowed Colonial/Jordan attorneys' fees in the amount of \$5,000.00. (C.P. Supp. Vol. 1 at 97) On May 17, 2010, Beaumont Homes filed a second Notice of Appeal. (C.P. Supp. Vol. 1 at 101)

By its original Notice of Appeal, Beaumont Homes did not divest the chancery court of jurisdiction to determine the issue of attorneys' fees. Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(d) speaks for itself concerning the procedural handling of post-judgment motions such as the one for attorneys' fees:

(d) **Post-trial Motions in Civil Cases**. If any party files a timely motion of a type specified immediately below the time for appeal for all parties runs from the entry of the order disposing of the last such motion outstanding. This provision applies to a timely motion under the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure (1) for judgment under Rule 50(b); (2) under Rule 52(b) to amend or make additional findings of facts, whether or not granting the motion would alter the judgment; (3) under rule 59 to alter or amend the judgment; (4) under rule 59 for new trial; or (5) for relief under Rule 60 if the motion is filed no later than 10 days after the entry of judgment. A notice of appeal filed after announcement or entry of the judgment but before disposition of any of the above motions is ineffective to appeal from the

judgment or order, or part thereof, specified in the notice of appeal, until the entry of the order disposing of the last such motion outstanding. Notwithstanding the provisions of Appellate Rule 3(c), a valid notice of appeal is effective to appeal from an order disposing of any of the above motions.

A motion that seeks to amend the judgment of the court in any manner filed within ten (10) days of the entry of the court's entry of judgment is timely, and the filing of a notice of appeal by the opposing party before its disposition does not divest the court of jurisdiction to make a determination as to that motion. *See Capital One Services, Inc. v. J.C. Rawls*, 904 So. 2d 1010 (Miss. 2004); *see also Wright v. White*, 693 So. 2d 898 (Miss. 1997)(court divested of jurisdiction only when post-judgment motion is untimely).

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